1993-94-95

THE PARLIAMENT OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA **HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES**

Presented and read a first time

(Housing and Regional Development)

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE) BILL 1995

CONTENTS

	PART 1—PRELIMINARY
Section	
1.	Short title
2.	Commencement
3.	Objects of Act
4. 5.	Definitions
5.	Local Government Grants Commissions
6.	National principles governing allocation by States among local governing bodie
	PART 2—GRANTS OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
7.	Estimates by Treasurer and Minister
8.	Determination of final factor
9.	State entitlements for local government purposes
10.	Adjustment of estimates—section 9 payments
11.	Allocation among local governing bodies—section 9 payments
12.	Additional funding for local government purposes
13.	Adjustment of estimates—section 12 payments
14.	Allocation among local governing bodies—section 12 payments
15.	Conditions of payments to States other than the Australian Gapital Territory

9506720---1,015/8.5.1995---(67/95) Cat. No. 95 4815 7 ISBN 0644 438483

CONTENTS—continued

Section			
	PART 3—MISCELLANEOUS		
16. 17. 18.	Reports Review Regulations		
19.	Appropriation PART 4—REPEAL AND TRANSITIONAL		
	FART 4—REFEAL AND TRANSITIONAL		
20.	Repeal		
21.	Local governing bodies		
22.	Local Government Grants Commissions		
23.	Estimate of factor by Treasurer		
24.	Modification of State principles applicable to 1995-1996		
25.	Modification of principles applicable to 1995-1996 in respect of section 12		

Transitional modification of national principles
Avoidance of double payments to Australian Capital Territory
Overpayments and underpayments of general grants in respect of 1994-1995
Overpayments and underpayments of other grants in respect of 1994-1995
Estimates of population by Statistician

payments

26. 27. 28. 29. 30.

1993-94-95

THE PARLIAMENT OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

Presented and read a first time

(Housing and Regional Development)

A BILL

FOR

An Act to provide for financial assistance for local government purposes by means of grants to the States, the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory, and for related purposes

The Parliament of Australia enacts:

PART 1—PRELIMINARY

Short title

5

1. This Act may be cited as the Local Government (Financial Assistance) Act 1995.

Commencement

2

2. This Act commences on the day on which it receives the Royal Assent.

Objects of Act

3.(1) This section explains the objects of the Parliament in enacting this Act.

5

- (2) The Parliament wishes to provide financial assistance to the States for the purposes of improving:
 - (a) the financial capacity of local governing bodies; and
 - (b) the capacity of local governing bodies to provide their residents with an equitable level of services; and

10

20

- (c) the certainty of funding for local governing bodies; and
- (d) the efficiency and effectiveness of local governing bodies; and
- (e) the provision by local governing bodies of services to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.
- (3) The financial assistance is to be provided by the making to the States, for local government purposes, of general grants under section 9 and additional funding under section 12.
 - (4) In providing this financial assistance the Parliament's goals are to:
 - (a) increase the transparency and accountability of the States in respect of the allocation of funds under this Act to local governing bodies; and
 - (b) promote consistency in the methods by which grants are allocated to achieve equitable levels of services by local governing bodies.
 - (5) To achieve those goals this Act provides for:
 - (a) the formulation of national principles for the purposes of the allocation of funds by the States to local governing bodies (section 6); and
 - (b) the making of an annual report to the Parliament about the operation of this Act (subsection 16(1)); and
 - (c) an assessment of the performance of local governing bodies 30 (subsection 16(2)).

Definitions

4.(1) In this Act:

"base figure" means:

(a) in relation to the year beginning on 1 July 1995, the amount worked 35 out using the formula:

Initial amount × Relevant final factor

where:

"Initial amount" has the meaning given by subsection (2);

"Relevant final factor" means the final factor for the year; or

(b) in relation to a later year (the "current year"), the amount worked out using the formula:

Previous year base figure × Relevant final factor

where:

5

10

15

20

25

"Previous year base figure" means the base figure for the year immediately before the current year;

- "Relevant final factor" means the final factor for the current year.
- (2) In this Act, unless the contrary intention appears:

"additional previous year funding amount", in relation to a State for a year (the "current year") means:

- (a) if the current year is the year beginning on 1 July 1995:
 - (i) in relation to a State other than the Australian Capital Territory—the amount that would have been payable to the State under section 10A of the repealed Act for the year immediately preceding the current year if the amount had been calculated using the final factor within the meaning of that Act for that preceding year instead of the estimated factor for that preceding year; or
 - (ii) in relation to the Australian Capital Territory—an amount determined by the Treasurer in writing; or
- (b) if the current year is a later year—the amount that would have been payable to the State under section 12 of this Act for the year immediately preceding the current year if the amount had been calculated using the final factor for that preceding year instead of the estimated factor for that preceding year;
- "estimated additional previous year funding amount", in relation to a State for a year, means the amount estimated under subsection 7(4) or (5), as the case may be, in relation to the State for the year;
 - "estimated factor", in relation to a year, means the factor estimated under subsection 7(3) in relation to the year;
- "estimated initial amount" means the amount estimated under subsection 7(1);
 - "final factor", in relation to a year, means the factor worked out under section 8 in relation to the year;

Local Government (Financial Assistance) 100. , 1995			
"initial amount" means the sum of:			
(a) the amount that would have been the base figure under the repealed Act for the year that began on 1 July 1994 if that amount had been calculated using the final factor within the meaning of that Act for that year instead of the estimated factor; and	5		
(b) an amount determined by the Treasurer in writing to be the amount by which the amount referred to in paragraph (a) would have been increased if the Australian Capital Territory had been a State for the purposes of the repealed Act;			
"local governing body" means:	10		
(a) a local governing body established by or under a law of a State, other than a body whose sole or principal function is to provide a particular service, such as the supply of electricity or water; or			
(b) a body declared by the Minister, on the advice of the relevant State Minister, by notice published in the <i>Gazette</i> , to be a local governing body for the purposes of this Act;	15		
"Local Government Grants Commission", in relation to a State, means the body named in a declaration in force under section 5 as the Local Government Grants Commission of the State;			
"relevant State Minister" means:	20		
(a) in relation to, or in relation to a body in, a State (other than the Australian Capital Territory)—the Minister of the State who is for the time being responsible for the administration of the law of the State that establishes the Local Government Grants Commission of the State; or	25		
(b) in relation to, or in relation to a body in, the Australian Capital Territory:			
(i) subject to subparagraph (ii), the Minister for Urban Services of the Territory; or	••		
(ii) if another Minister of the Territory is prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this paragraph—that other Minister;	30		
"repealed Act" means the Local Government (Financial Assistance) Act 1986;			
"State" includes the Australian Capital Territory and the Northern Territory;	35		
"Statistician" means the Australian Statistician;			
"year" means the financial year beginning on 1 July 1995 or a later financial			

(3) The Treasurer has power to make written determinations for the

purposes of this Act.

(4) The Minister has power to make declarations for the purposes of paragraph (b) of the definition of "local governing body" in subsection (2).

Local Government Grants Commissions

- **5.(1)** In this section:
- 5 "State" does not include the Australian Capital Territory.
 - (2) If:

10

30

40

- (a) the principal function of a body established by a law of a State is the making of recommendations to the Government of the State with respect to the provision of financial assistance to local governing bodies in the State; and
- (b) the Minister is satisfied that the membership of the body includes at least 2 people who are or have been associated with local government in the State, whether as members of a local governing body or otherwise:
- the Minister may, by notice published in the *Gazette*, declare the body to be the Local Government Grants Commission of the State for the purposes of this Act.

National principles governing allocation by States among local governing bodies

- 6.(1) The Minister, after consulting the relevant State Ministers, must formulate, in writing, national principles for the purpose of allocating among local governing bodies amounts payable to States (other than the Australian Capital Territory) under this Act in the year beginning on 1 July 1996 and later years.
- 25 (2) In formulating national principles, the Minister:
 - (a) is to have regard to the need to ensure that the allocation of funds for local government purposes under section 9 is made, as far as practicable, on a full horizontal equalisation basis; but
 - (b) must ensure that no local governing body in a State will be allocated an amount under section 9 in a year that is less than the amount that would be allocated to the body if 30% of the amount to which the State is entitled under that section in respect of the year were allocated among local governing bodies in the State on a per capita basis.
- 35 (3) The reference in paragraph (2)(a) to the allocation of funds for local government purposes on a full horizontal equalisation basis is a reference to an allocation of funds that:
 - (a) ensures that each local governing body in a State is able to function, by reasonable effort, at a standard not lower than the average standard of other local governing bodies in the State; and

- 6
- (b) takes account of differences in the expenditure required to be incurred by local governing bodies in the performance of their functions and in their capacity to raise revenue.

10

15

20

25

30

35

- (4) The Minister may, in writing, revoke or vary any principles formulated under subsection (1).
- (5) The Minister must cause to be given to the relevant State Minister of each State other than the Australian Capital Territory a copy of any instrument formulating principles under subsection (1) and a copy of any instrument under subsection (4) revoking or varying any of those principles.

PART 2—GRANTS OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Estimates by Treasurer and Minister

- 7.(1) The Treasurer must, as soon as practicable after the commencement of this Act, make a written estimate of the **initial amount**.
- (2) The Minister must, before the start of each year (the "current year") after the year beginning on 1 July 1995, make a written estimate of the base figure for the year immediately preceding the current year.
 - (3) The Treasurer must:
 - (a) as soon as practicable after the commencement of this Act, make a written estimate of the **factor**, calculated to 4 decimal places, to be worked out under subsection 8(1) in relation to the year beginning on 1 July 1995; and
 - (b) before the start of each later year, make a written estimate of the **factor**, calculated to 4 decimal places to be worked out under subsection 8(1) in relation to the year.
- (4) The Treasurer must, as soon as practicable after the commencement of this Act, make a written estimate of the **additional previous year funding amount** in relation to each State for the year beginning on 1 July 1995.
- (5) The Minister must, before the start of each year (the "relevant year") after the year beginning on 1 July 1995, make a written estimate of the additional previous year funding amount in relation to each State for the relevant year.
- (6) The Treasurer must, as soon as practicable after an estimate is made under subsection (1), (3) or (4), cause to be given to the Minister a written notice:
 - (a) setting out the estimate; and
- (b) explaining the basis on which the estimate was made; and the Minister must cause a copy of the notice to be given to the Treasurer of each State.

- (7) The Minister must, as soon as practicable after an estimate is made under subsection (2) or (5), cause to be given to the Treasurer of each State a written notice:
 - (a) setting out the estimate; and
 - (b) explaining the basis on which the estimate was made.

Determination of final factor

5

15

20

25

- **8.(1)** The Treasurer must, not later than 30 June in each year (the "current year"), cause a factor in relation to the current year to be worked out by:
- 10 (a) calculating, to 4 decimal places, the factor obtained using the formula:

Adjusted current year grants Adjusted previous year grants

where:

"Adjusted current year grants" means:

- (i) the sum of the financial assistance grants and the special revenue assistance grants to the States for the current year; or
- (ii) if the Treasurer thinks that it is appropriate to increase or decrease that sum—the increased or decreased sum, as the case requires;

"Adjusted previous year grants" means:

- (i) the sum of the financial assistance grants and the special revenue assistance grants to the States for the year immediately before the current year; or
- (ii) if the Treasurer thinks that it is appropriate to increase or decrease that sum—the increased or decreased sum, as the case requires; and
- (b) if the factor calculated under paragraph (a) would, if it were calculated to 5 decimal places, end in a number greater than 4—increasing that factor by 0.0001.
- (2) In making a decision under paragraph (1)(a) whether to increase or decrease a sum, the Treasurer is to have regard to the following matters:
 - (a) underlying movements in general purpose Commonwealth payments to the States;
 - (b) changes to the classification of any relevant Commonwealth payments to the States;
- 35 (c) changes to the distribution of financial responsibilities as between the Commonwealth and the States;
 - (d) any other matters that the Treasurer thinks relevant.

- 8
- (3) The Treasurer must, not later than 30 June in each year, cause to be given to the Minister a written notice:
 - (a) setting out the factor worked out under subsection (1) in relation to the year; and

10

15

20

25

30

35

(b) explaining the basis on which the factor was worked out.

(4) The Minister must cause a copy of the notice to be given to the Treasurer of each State.

State entitlements for local government purposes

- **9.(1)** Subject to this section and to section 11, each State is entitled to the payment, in respect of a year (the "current year"), by way of financial assistance for local government purposes, of a general grant, being:
 - (a) if the current year is the year beginning on 1 July 1995, the amount worked out using the formula:

(b) if the current year is a later year, the amount worked out using the formula:

Estimated previous year base figure \times Relevant estimated factor \times Projected population of the State Projected population of Australia

where:

- "Relevant estimated factor" means the estimated factor for the current year;
- "Projected population of the State" means the population of the State on 31 December in the year immediately before the current year as set out in a preliminary estimate of that population on that date made by the Statistician according to assumptions agreed to between the Minister and the Statistician;
- "Projected population of Australia" means the total population of all the States on 31 December in the year immediately before the current year as set out in a preliminary estimate of that population on that date made by the Statistician according to assumptions agreed to between the Minister and the Statistician;
- "Estimated previous year base figure" means the amount estimated under subsection 7(2) in relation to the year immediately before the current year. Note: For "estimated initial amount" and "estimated factor" see subsection 4(2).
- (2) A State is not entitled to a payment under this section in respect of a year unless:
 - (a) if the year is the year beginning on 1 July 1995—an estimate under subsection 7(1) has been made in relation to that year; and
 - (b) if the year is a later year—an estimate under subsection 7(2) has been made in relation to the immediately preceding year; and

- (c) in any case—an estimate under subsection 7(3) has been made in relation to the year.
- (3) A State is not entitled to a payment under this section in respect of a year until 15 August in the year.
- 5 (4) So far as practicable, the amount to which a State is entitled under this section in respect of a year must be paid in equal quarterly instalments.

Adjustment of estimates—section 9 payments

- 10.(1) This section applies to a State in respect of a year (the "current year") if the amount worked out under subsection 9(1) (the "preliminary grant amount") in relation to the State in respect of the current year is greater or less than:
 - (a) if the current year is the year beginning on 1 July 1995, the amount (the "final grant amount") worked out using the formula:

 $\textbf{Initial amount} \times \textbf{Relevant final factor} \times \frac{\textbf{Population of the State}}{\textbf{Population of Australia;}} \text{ or }$

(b) if the current year is a later year, the amount (the "final grant amount") worked out using the formula:

 $\frac{\text{Previous year base}}{\text{figure}} \times \text{Relevant final factor} \times \frac{\text{Population of the State}}{\text{Population of Australia}}$

where:

10

15

20

25

30

35

"Relevant final factor" means the final factor for the current year;

"Population of the State" means the population of the State on 31 December in the year immediately before the current year as set out in an estimate of that population on that date made by the Statistician;

"Population of Australia" means the total population of all the States on 31 December in the year immediately before the current year as set out in an estimate of that population on that date made by the Statistician;

"Previous year base figure" means the base figure for the year immediately before the current year.

Note 1: For "initial amount" and "final factor" see subsection 4(2).

Note 2: For "base figure" see subsection 4(1).

- (2) The Statistician, in making an estimate for the purposes of this section of the population of a State, must have regard to the latest statistics in relation to the population available to the Statistician on the day on which the estimate is made.
- (3) The Minister must, as soon as practicable after the Statistician makes an estimate of the population of each State for the purposes of this section, cause to be given to the Treasurer of each State a written notice setting out the population of the State and the total population of all the States.

- (4) If the final grant amount for a State in respect of a year exceeds the preliminary grant amount for the State in respect of the year, the State is entitled, in addition to the payment to which it is entitled under section 9 in respect of the year, to the payment in respect of the year, by way of financial assistance for local government purposes, of an amount equal to the excess.
- (5) In addition to any other conditions to which a payment under this Act is subject, payment of an amount to a State under this Act is subject to the condition that if the final grant amount for the State in respect of a year is less than the preliminary grant amount for the State in respect of the year, the State will pay to the Commonwealth an amount equal to the difference.
- (6) If an amount is payable to a State under subsection (4) in respect of a year, the amount is to be paid to the State in the following year by equal quarterly instalments at the times when instalments to which the State is entitled under section 9 in respect of the following year are paid.
- (7) If a State is liable to pay an amount to the Commonwealth under subsection (5) in respect of a year, one-quarter of the amount is to be deducted from each quarterly instalment that, apart from this subsection, would be payable to the State under section 9 in respect of the following year.

Allocation among local governing bodies—section 9 payments

11.(1) In this section:

20

25

30

35

40

5

10

- "State" does not include the Australian Capital Territory.
- (2) A State is not entitled to payment of an amount under section 9 in respect of a year unless:
 - (a) there is a Local Government Grants Commission of the State; and
 - (b) the Commission has made recommendations with respect to the allocation of the amount among local governing bodies in the State; and
 - (c) the Commission:
 - (i) held public hearings (whether or not it also held private hearings) in connection with the recommendations; and
 - (ii) permitted or required local governing bodies in the State or associations of those bodies to make submissions to it in connection with the recommendations; and
 - (d) the Commission has made the recommendations:
 - (i) if the year is the year beginning on 1 July 1995—in accordance with the principles that were applicable to the State under section 9 of the repealed Act in respect of the immediately preceding year or, if those principles have been modified under section 24, in accordance with those principles as so modified; or

- (ii) if the year is a later year—in accordance with national principles in force under section 6 of this Act in respect of the later year or, if those principles have been modified under section 26 in relation to the State in respect of the later year, in accordance with those principles as so modified; and
- (e) the relevant State Minister has given the Minister in writing particulars of the manner in which the State proposes to allocate the amount among local governing bodies in the State; and
- (f) the Minister is satisfied that, in determining the manner in which the State proposes to allocate the amount among local governing bodies in the State, the State has adopted the recommendations of the Commission; and
- (g) the State does not allocate the amount among local governing bodies in the State except in accordance with the proposed allocation or in accordance with that proposed allocation as altered with the agreement of the Minister.

Additional funding for local government purposes

5

10

15

20

35

12.(1) Subject to this section and section 14, each State is entitled to the payment, in respect of a year (the "current year"), by way of financial assistance for local government purposes, of the amount worked out using the formula:

Estimated additional previous year funding amount \times Estimated factor where:

"Estimated additional previous year funding amount" means the estimated additional previous year funding amount in relation to the State for the current year;

"Estimated factor" means the estimated factor for the current year.

Note: For "estimated additional previous year funding amount" and "estimated factor" see subsection 4(2).

- 30 (2) A State is not entitled to a payment under this section in respect of a year until 15 August in the year.
 - (3) A State is not entitled to a payment under this section in respect of a year unless:
 - (a) an estimate under subsection 7(3) has been made in relation to the year; and
 - (b) an estimate under subsection 7(4) or (5), as the case may be, has been made in relation to the State for the year.
 - (4) So far as practicable, an amount to which a State is entitled under this section must be paid in equal quarterly instalments.

Adjustment of estimates—section 12 payments

13.(1) This section applies to a State in respect of a year (the "current year") if the amount worked out under section 12 (the "preliminary additional grant amount") in relation to the State in respect of the current year is greater or less than the amount (the "final additional grant amount") worked out in relation to the State in respect of the current year using the formula:

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Additional previous year funding amount \times Final factor where:

"Additional previous year funding amount" means the additional previous year funding amount in relation to the State for the current year; "Final factor" means the final factor for the current year.

Note: For "additional previous year funding amount" and "final factor" see subsection 4(2).

- (2) If the final additional grant amount for a State in respect of a year exceeds the preliminary additional grant amount for the State in respect of the year, the State is entitled, in addition to the payment to which it is entitled under section 12 in respect of the year, to the payment in respect of the year, by way of financial assistance for local government purposes, of an amount equal to the excess.
- (3) In addition to any other conditions to which a payment under this Act is subject, payment of an amount to a State under this Act is subject to the condition that, if the final additional grant amount for the State in respect of a year is less than the preliminary additional grant amount for the State in respect of the year, the State will pay to the Commonwealth an amount equal to the difference.
- (4) If an amount is payable to a State under subsection (2) in respect of a year, the amount is to be paid to the State in the following year by equal quarterly instalments at the times when instalments to which the State is entitled under section 12 in respect of that following year are paid.
- (5) If a State is liable to pay an amount to the Commonwealth under subsection (3), one-quarter of the amount is to be deducted from each quarterly instalment that, apart from this subsection, would be payable to the State under section 12 in respect of the following year.

Allocation among local governing bodies—section 12 payments

- 14.(1) In this section:
- "State" does not include the Australian Capital Territory.
- (2) Λ State is not entitled to payment of an amount under section 12 in respect of a year unless:
 - (a) there is a Local Government Grants Commission of the State; and

- (b) the Commission has made recommendations with respect to the allocation of the amount among local governing bodies in the State; and
- (c) the Commission has made the recommendations:
- 5 (i) if the year is the year beginning on 1 July 1995—in accordance with any principles that were applicable to the State under paragraph 10C(1)(da) of the repealed Act in respect of the immediately preceding year or, if those principles have been modified under section 25, in accordance with those principles as so modified; or
 - (ii) if the year is a later year—in accordance with any relevant national principles in force under section 6 in respect of the later year that relate to expenditure on local roads by local governing bodies or, if those principles have been modified under section 26 in relation to the State in respect of the later year, in accordance with those principles as so modified; and
 - (d) the relevant State Minister has given the Minister in writing particulars of the manner in which the State proposes to allocate the amount among local governing bodies in the State; and
- 20 (e) the Minister is satisfied that, in determining the manner in which the State proposes to allocate the amount among local governing bodies in the State, the State has adopted the recommendations of the Commission; and
- (f) the State does not allocate the amount among local governing bodies in the State except in accordance with the proposed allocation or in accordance with that proposed allocation as altered in accordance with the agreement of the Minister.

Conditions of payments to States other than the Australian Capital Territory

- 30 **15.** Payment of an amount to a State (other than the Australian Capital Territory) under this Act in respect of a year is subject to:
 - (a) a condition that the State will:

15

35

- (i) if the payment is made under section 9—without undue delay, make unconditional payments to local governing bodies in the State in accordance with the allocation determined as mentioned in section 11; and
- (ii) if the payment is made under section 10—without undue delay, make unconditional payments to local governing bodies in the State in the same proportion as the payments under section 9 in respect of the year were allocated; and

- (iii) if the payment is made under section 12—without undue delay, make unconditional payments to local governing bodies in the State in accordance with the allocation determined as mentioned in section 14; and
- (iv) if the payment is made under section 13—without undue delay, make unconditional payments to local governing bodies in the State in the same proportion as the payments under section 12 in respect of the year were allocated; and

10

15

20

30

35

- (b) a condition that the Treasurer of the State will give the Minister, as soon as practicable after 30 June in each year:
 - (i) a statement, in a form approved by the Minister, setting out the payments made by the State during the year ending on that date in accordance with this Act, and the dates of the payments; and
 - (ii) a certificate by the Auditor-General of the State certifying that, in his or her opinion, the contents of the statement are correct; and
- (c) a condition that, if the Minister tells the Treasurer of the State that the Minister is satisfied that the State has, with respect to the whole or a part of the amount, failed to fulfil any of the conditions applicable under paragraphs (a) and (b) to the payment of the amount, the State will repay to the Commonwealth any amount determined by the Minister that is not more than the amount in respect of which the Minister is so satisfied.

PART 3—MISCELLANEOUS

Reports	25
---------	----

- **16.(1)** The Minister must, as soon as practicable after 30 June in each year, cause a report or reports to be prepared about the operation of this Act in respect of the year.
- Note: The first report under this subsection will relate to the year beginning on 1 July 1995; see the definition of "year" in subsection 4(2).
- (2) The report or one of the reports must include an assessment by the Minister (based on comparable national data), in relation to the year, of:
 - (a) the extent (if any) to which the allocation of funds for local government purposes has been made on a full horizontal equalisation basis as mentioned in paragraph 6(2)(a); and
 - (b) the methods used by the Local Government Grants Commissions in making their recommendations; and
 - (c) the performance by local governing bodies of their functions including:

- (i) their efficiency; and
- (ii) services provided by them to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities.
- (3) The Minister must cause a copy of each report to be laid before each
 House of the Parliament as soon as practicable after the report has been prepared.

Review

10

15

20

- 17.(1) The Minister is to cause a review of the operation of this Act to be carried out not later than 30 June 2001 in consultation with the States and with a body or bodies representative of local government.
 - (2) A review is to examine:
 - (a) the effectiveness of the arrangements under this Act in relation to ensuring that the allocation of funds for local government purposes is made on a full horizontal equalisation basis as mentioned in paragraph 6(2)(a); and
 - (b) the impact of this Act on the raising of revenue by local governing bodies and on the assistance provided by the States to local governing bodies; and
 - (c) the implications of any changes in the functions or responsibilities of local governing bodies; and
 - (d) the eligibility for assistance under this Act of bodies declared by the Minister under section 4 to be local governing bodies; and
 - (e) any other matters relating to local government that the Minister determines.

25 Regulations

- 18. The Governor-General may make regulations prescribing matters:
- (a) required or permitted by this Act to be prescribed; or
- (b) necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.

30 Appropriation

19. Payments to a State under this Act are to be made out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund, which is appropriated accordingly.

PART 4—REPEAL AND TRANSITIONAL

Repeal

- 35 **20.(1)** The Local Government (Financial Assistance) Act 1986 is repealed.
 - (2) Despite the repeal effected by subsection (1), the repealed Act continues to apply in relation to financial years before the year beginning on 1 July 1995.

Local governing bodies

21. A body that, immediately before the commencement of this Act, was duly declared for the purposes of paragraph (b) of the definition of "local governing body" in section 3 of the repealed Act to be a local governing body for the purposes of that Act is taken to be declared for the purposes of paragraph (b) of the definition of "local governing body" in subsection 4(2) of this Act to be a local governing body for the purposes of this Act.

5

Local Government Grants Commissions

22. If, immediately before the commencement of this Act, an instrument was in force under section 4 of the repealed Act declaring a body to be the Local Government Grants Commission of a State, the instrument is taken to be a declaration duly made under subsection 5(2) of this Act.

10

Estimate of factor by Treasurer

23. If the Treasurer made an estimate before the commencement of this Act under section 5 of the repealed Act in relation to the year beginning on 1 July 1995, the estimate is taken to have been made under subsection 7(3) of this Act.

15

Modification of State principles applicable to 1995-1996

24. A State may, with the Minister's written approval, modify any of the principles referred to in subparagraph 11(2)(d)(i).

20

Modification of principles applicable to 1995-1996 in respect of section 12 payments

25. The Minister may modify any of the principles referred to in subparagraph 14(2)(c)(i).

Transitional modification of national principles

25

26. The Minister may determine in writing that any one or more of the national principles in force under section 6 are, in respect of a year referred to in the determination, to have effect, in relation to a State or States so referred to, subject to modifications set out in the determination.

Avoidance of double payments to Australian Capital Territory

30

27. The total of the amounts that, apart from this section, would be payable under this Act to the Australian Capital Territory in respect of the year beginning on 1 July 1995 is reduced by any amount or amounts paid to that Territory for local government purposes in respect of that year under the Appropriation Act (No. 2) 1995-96.

35

Overpayments and underpayments of general grants in respect of 1994-1995

28.(1) If an amount is payable to a State under subsection 8(1) of the repealed Act as it continues to apply under subsection 20(2) of this Act in relation to the year that began on 1 July 1994, the amount is to be paid to the

25

State in the year beginning on 1 July 1995 by equal quarterly instalments at the times when instalments to which the State is entitled under section 9 of this Act in respect of that last-mentioned year are paid.

(2) If a State is liable to pay an amount to the Commonwealth under subsection 8(2) of the repealed Act as it continues to apply under subsection 20(2) in this Act in relation to the year that began on 1 July 1994, one-quarter of the amount is to be deducted from each quarterly instalment that, apart from this subsection, would be payable to the State under section 9 of this Act in respect of the year beginning on 1 July 1995 and, if an amount is so deducted, then, despite the deduction, an amount equal to 10 the deduction is taken, for the purposes of this Act, to have been paid to the State.

Overpayments and underpayments of other grants in respect of 1994-1995

- 15 **29.(1)** If an amount is payable to a State under subsection 10B(1) of the repealed Act as it continues to apply under subsection 20(2) of this Act in relation to the year that began on 1 July 1994, the amount is to be paid to the State in the year beginning on 1 July 1995 by equal quarterly instalments at the times when instalments to which the State is entitled under section 12 of 20 this Act in respect of that last-mentioned year are paid.
 - (2) If a State is liable to pay an amount to the Commonwealth under subsection 10B(2) of the repealed Act as it continues to apply under subsection 20(2) in this Act in relation to the year that began on 1 July 1994, one-quarter of the amount is to be deducted from each quarterly instalment that, apart from this subsection, would be payable to the State under section 12 of this Act in respect of the year beginning on 1 July 1995 and, if an amount is so deducted, then, despite the deduction, an amount equal to the deduction is taken, for the purposes of this Act, to have been paid to the State.

30 **Estimates of population by Statistician**

30. A reference in this Act to a preliminary estimate, or to an estimate, of population made by the Statistician includes a reference to such a preliminary estimate, or estimate, made before the commencement of this Act.



9 780644 438483